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C of title IV of the Act shall be in-
formed by the OWCP of the availability 
and advisability of vocational rehabili-
tation services. If such miner chooses 
to avail himself or herself of vocational 
rehabilitation, his or her request shall 
be processed and referred by OWCP vo-
cational rehabilitation advisors pursu-
ant to the provisions of §§ 702.501 
through 702.508 of this chapter as is ap-
propriate.

PART 726—BLACK LUNG BENEFITS; 
REQUIREMENTS FOR COAL MINE 
OPERATOR’S INSURANCE

Subpart A—General
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Subpart A—General
§ 726.1 Statutory insurance require-

ments for coal mine operators. 
Section 423 of title IV of the Federal 

Coal Mine Health and Safety Act as 
amended (hereinafter the Act) requires 
each coal mine operator who is oper-
ating or has operated a coal mine in a 
State which is not included in the list 
published by the Secretary (see part 722 
of this subchapter) to secure the pay-
ment of benefits for which he may be 
found liable under section 422 of the 
Act and the provisions of this sub-
chapter by either: 

(a) Qualifying as a self-insurer, or 
(b) By subscribing to and maintain-

ing in force a commercial insurance 
contract (including a policy or con-
tract procured from a State agency).

§ 726.2 Purpose and scope of this part. 
(a) This part provides rules directing 

and controlling the circumstances 
under which a coal mine operator shall 
fulfill his insurance obligations under 
the Act. 

(b) This Subpart A sets forth the 
scope and purpose of this part and gen-
erally describes the statutory frame-
work within which this part is opera-
tive. 

(c) Subpart B of this part sets forth 
the criteria a coal mine operator must 
meet in order to qualify as a self-in-
surer. 

(d) Subpart C of this part sets forth 
the rules and regulations of the Sec-
retary governing contracts of insur-
ance entered into by coal mine opera-
tors and commercial insurance sources 
for the payment of black lung benefits 
under part C of the Act. 

(e) Subpart D of this part sets forth 
the rules governing the imposition of 
civil money penalties on coal mine op-
erators that fail to secure their liabil-
ity under the Act.

§ 726.3 Relationship of this part to 
other parts in this subchapter. 

(a) This part 726 implements and ef-
fectuates responsibilities for the pay-
ment of black lung benefits placed 
upon coal mine operators by sections 
415 and 422 of the Act and the regula-
tions of the Secretary in this sub-
chapter, particularly those set forth in 

part 725 of this subchapter. All defini-
tions, usages, procedures, and other 
rules affecting the responsibilities of 
coal mine operators prescribed in part 
725 of this subchapter are hereby made 
applicable, as appropriate, to this part 
726. 

(b) If the provisions of this part ap-
pear to conflict with any provision of 
any other part in this subchapter, the 
apparently conflicting provisions 
should be read harmoniously to the 
fullest extent possible. If a harmonious 
interpretation is not possible, the pro-
visions of this part should be applied to 
govern the responsibilities and obliga-
tions of coal mine operators to secure 
the payment of black lung benefits as 
prescribed by the Act. The provisions 
of this part do not apply to matters 
falling outside the scope of this part.

§ 726.4 Who must obtain insurance 
coverage. 

(a) Section 423 of part C of title IV of 
the Act requires each operator of a coal 
mine or former operator in any State 
which does meet the requirements pre-
scribed by the Secretary pursuant to 
section 411 of part C of title IV of the 
Act to self-insure or obtain a policy or 
contract of insurance to guarantee the 
payment of benefits for which such op-
erator may be adjudicated liable under 
section 422 of the Act. In enacting sec-
tions 422 and 423 of the Act Congress 
has unambiguously expressed its intent 
that coal mine operators bear the cost 
of providing the benefits established by 
part C of title IV of the Act. Section 3 
of the Act defines an ‘‘operator’’ as any 
owner, lessee, or other person who op-
erates, controls, or supervises a coal 
mine. 

(b) Section 422(i) of the Act clearly 
recognizes that any individual or busi-
ness entity who is or was a coal mine 
operator may be found liable for the 
payment of pneumoconiosis benefits 
after December 31, 1973. Within this 
framework it is clear that the Sec-
retary has wide latitude for deter-
mining which operator shall be liable 
for the payment of part C benefits. 
Comprehensive standards have been 
promulgated in subpart G of part 725 of 
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this subchapter for the purpose of guid-
ing the Secretary in making such de-
termination. It must be noted that pur-
suant to these standards any parent or 
subsidiary corporation, any individual 
or corporate partner, or partnership, 
any lessee or lessor of a coal mine, any 
joint venture or participant in a joint 
venture, any transferee or transferor of 
a corporation or other business entity, 
any former, current, or future operator 
or any other form of business entity 
which has had or will have a substan-
tial and reasonably direct interest in 
the operation of a coal mine may be de-
termined liable for the payment of 
pneumoconiosis benefits after Decem-
ber 31, 1973. The failure of any such 
business entity to self-insure or obtain 
a policy or contract of insurance shall 
in no way relieve such business entity 
of its obligation to pay pneumoconiosis 
benefits in respect of any case in which 
such business entity’s responsibility 
for such payments has been properly 
adjudicated. Any business entity de-
scribed in this section shall take appro-
priate steps to insure that any liability 
imposed by part C of the Act on such 
business entity shall be dischargeable.

§ 726.5 Effective date of insurance cov-
erage. 

Pursuant to section 422(c) of part C of 
title IV of the Act, no coal mine oper-
ator shall be responsible for the pay-
ment of any benefits whatsoever for 
any period prior to January 1, 1974. 
However, coal mine operators shall be 
liable as of January 1, 1974, for the pay-
ment of benefits in respect of claims 
which were filed under section 415 of 
part B of title IV of the Act after July 
1, 1973. Section 415(a)(3) requires the 
Secretary to notify any operator who 
may be liable for the payment of bene-
fits under part C of title IV beginning 
on January 1, 1974, of the pendency of a 
section 415 claim. Section 415(a)(5) de-
clares that any operator who has been 
notified of the pendency of a section 
415 claim shall be bound by the deter-
mination of the Secretary as to such 
operator’s liability and as to the claim-
ant’s entitlement to benefits as if the 
claim were filed under part C of title 
IV of the Act and section 422 thereof 
had been applicable to such operator. 
Therefore, even though no benefit pay-

ments shall be required of an operator 
prior to January 1, 1974, the liability 
for these payments may be finally ad-
judicated at any time after July 1, 1973. 
Neither the failure of an operator to 
exercise his right to participate in the 
adjudication of such a claim nor the 
failure of an operator to obtain insur-
ance coverage in respect of claims filed 
after June 30, 1973, but before January 
1, 1974, shall excuse such operator from 
his liability for the payment of bene-
fits to such claimants under part C of 
title IV of the Act.

§ 726.6 The Office of Workers’ Com-
pensation Programs. 

The Office of Workers’ Compensation 
Programs (hereinafter the Office or 
OWCP) is that subdivision of the Em-
ployment Standards Administration of 
the U.S. Department of Labor which 
has been empowered by the Secretary 
of Labor to carry out his functions 
under section 415 and part C of title IV 
of the Act. As noted throughout this 
part 726 the Office shall perform a num-
ber of functions with respect to the 
regulation of both the self-insurance 
and commercial insurance programs. 
All correspondence with or submissions 
to the Office should be addressed as fol-
lows:

Division of Coal Mine Workers’ Compensa-
tion, Office of Workers’ Compensation Pro-
grams, Employment Standards Adminis-
tration, U.S. Department of Labor, Wash-
ington, D.C. 20210

§ 726.7 Forms, submission of informa-
tion. 

Any information required by this 
part 726 to be submitted to the Office of 
Workmen’s Compensation Programs or 
any other office or official of the De-
partment of Labor, shall be submitted 
on such forms or in such manner as the 
Secretary deems appropriate and has 
authorized from time to time for such 
purposes.

§ 726.8 Definitions. 

In addition to the definitions pro-
vided in part 725 of this subchapter, the 
following definitions apply to this part: 

(a) Director means the Director, Of-
fice of Workers’ Compensation Pro-
grams, and includes any official of the 
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Office of Workers’ Compensation Pro-
grams authorized by the Director to 
perform any of the functions of the Di-
rector under this part and part 725 of 
this subchapter. 

(b) Person includes any individual, 
partnership, corporation, association, 
business trust, legal representative, or 
organized group of persons. 

(c) Secretary means the Secretary of 
Labor or such other official as the Sec-
retary shall designate to carry out any 
responsibility under this part. 

(d) The terms employ and employment 
shall be construed as broadly as pos-
sible, and shall include any relation-
ship under which an operator retains 
the right to direct, control, or super-
vise the work performed by a miner, or 
any other relationship under which an 
operator derives a benefit from the 
work performed by a miner. Any indi-
viduals who participate with one or 
more persons in the mining of coal, 
such as owners, proprietors, partners, 
and joint venturers, whether they are 
compensated by wages, salaries, piece 
rates, shares, profits, or by any other 
means, shall be deemed employees. It 
is the specific intention of this para-
graph to disregard any financial ar-
rangement or business entity devised 
by the actual owners or operators of a 
coal mine or coal mine-related enter-
prise to avoid the payment of benefits 
to miners who, based upon the eco-
nomic reality of their relationship to 
this enterprise, are, in fact, employees 
of the enterprise.

Subpart B—Authorization of Self-
Insurers

§ 726.101 Who may be authorized to 
self-insure. 

(a) Pursuant to section 423 of part C 
of title IV of the Act, authorization to 
self-insure against liability incurred by 
coal mine operators on account of the 
total disability or death of miners due 
to pneumoconiosis may be granted or 
denied in the discretion of the Sec-
retary. The provisions of this subpart 
describe the minimum requirements 
established by the Secretary for deter-
mining whether any particular coal 
mine operator shall be authorized as a 
self-insurer. 

(b) The minimum requirements 
which must be met by any operator 
seeking authorization to self-insure are 
as follows: 

(1) The operator must, at the time of 
application, have been in the business 
of mining coal for at least the 3 con-
secutive years prior to such applica-
tion; and, 

(2) The operator must demonstrate 
the administrative capacity to fully 
service such claims as may be filed 
against him; and, 

(3) The operator’s average current as-
sets over the preceding 3 years (in com-
puting average current assets such op-
erator shall not include the amount of 
any negotiable securities which he may 
be required to deposit to secure his ob-
ligations under the Act) must exceed 
current liabilities by the sum of— 

(i) The estimated aggregate amount 
of black lung benefits (including med-
ical benefits) which such operator may 
expect to be required to pay during the 
ensuing year; and, 

(ii) The annual premium cost for any 
indemnity bond purchased; and 

(4) Such operator must obtain secu-
rity, in a form approved by the Office 
(see § 726.104) and in an amount to be 
determined by the Office (see § 726.105); 
and 

(5) No operator with fewer than 5 
full-time employee-miners shall be per-
mitted to self-insure. 

(c) No operator who is unable to meet 
the requirements of this section should 
apply for authorization to self-insure 
and no application for self-insurance 
shall be approved by the Office until 
such time as the amount prescribed by 
the Office has been secured in accord-
ance with this subpart.

§ 726.102 Application for authority to 
become a self-insurer; how filed; in-
formation to be submitted. 

(a) How filed. Application for author-
ity to become a self-insurer shall be ad-
dressed to the Office and be made on a 
form provided by the Office. Such ap-
plication shall be signed by the appli-
cant over his typewritten name and if 
the applicant is not an individual, by 
the principal officer of the applicant 
duly authorized to make such applica-
tion over his typewritten name and of-
ficial designation and shall be sworn to 
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by him. If the applicant is a corpora-
tion, the corporate seal shall be af-
fixed. The application shall be filed 
with the Office in Washington, D.C. 

(b) Information to be submitted. Each 
application for authority to self-insure 
shall contain: 

(1) A statement of the employer’s 
payroll report for each of the preceding 
3 years; 

(2) A statement of the average num-
ber of employees engaged in employ-
ment within the purview of the Act for 
each of the preceding 3 years; 

(3) A list of the mine or mines to be 
covered by any particular self-insur-
ance agreement. Each such mine or 
mines listed shall be described by name 
and reference shall be made to the Fed-
eral Identification Number assigned 
such mine by the Bureau of Mines, U.S. 
Department of the Interior; 

(4) A certified itemized statement of 
the gross and net assets and liabilities 
of the operator for each of the 3 pre-
ceding years in such manner as pre-
scribed by the Office; 

(5) A statement demonstrating the 
applicant’s administrative capacity to 
provide or procure adequate servicing 
for a claim including both medical and 
dollar claims; and 

(6) In addition to the aforementioned, 
the Office may in its discretion, re-
quire the applicant to submit such fur-
ther information or such evidence as 
the Office may deem necessary to have 
in order to enable it to give adequate 
consideration to such application. 

(c) Who may file. An application for 
authorization to self-insure may be 
filed by any parent or subsidiary cor-
poration, partner or partnership, party 
to a joint venture or joint venture, in-
dividual, or other business entity 
which may be determined liable for the 
payment of black lung benefits under 
part C of title IV of the Act, regardless 
of whether such applicant is directly 
engaged in the business of mining coal. 
However, in each case for which au-
thorization to self-insure is granted, 
the agreement and undertaking filed 
pursuant to § 726.110 and the security 
deposit shall be respectively filed by 
and deposited in the name of the appli-
cant only.

§ 726.103 Application for authority to 
self-insure; effect of regulations 
contained in this part. 

As appropriate, each of the regula-
tions, interpretations and require-
ments contained in this part 726 includ-
ing those described in subpart C of this 
part shall be binding upon each appli-
cant under this subpart, and the appli-
cant’s consent to be bound by all re-
quirements of the said regulations 
shall be deemed to be included in and a 
part of the application, as fully as 
though written therein.

§ 726.104 Action by the Office upon ap-
plication of operator. 

(a) Upon receipt of a completed appli-
cation for authorization to self-insure, 
the Office shall, after examination of 
the information contained in the appli-
cation, either deny the request or de-
termine the amount of security which 
must be given by the applicant to guar-
antee the payment of benefits and the 
discharge of all other obligations which 
may be required of such applicant 
under the Act. 

(b) The applicant shall thereafter be 
notified that he may give security in 
the amount fixed by the Office (see 
§ 726.105): 

(1) In the form of an indemnity bond 
with sureties satisfactory to the Office; 

(2) By a deposit of negotiable securi-
ties with a Federal Reserve Bank in 
compliance with §§ 726.106(c) and 
726.107; 

(3) In the form of a letter of credit 
issued by a financial institution satis-
factory to the Office (except that a let-
ter of credit shall not be sufficient by 
itself to satisfy a self-insurer’s obliga-
tions under this part); or 

(4) By funding a trust pursuant to 
section 501(c)(21) of the Internal Rev-
enue Code (26 U.S.C.). 

(c) Any applicant who cannot meet 
the security deposit requirements im-
posed by the Office should proceed to 
obtain a commercial policy or contract 
of insurance. Any applicant for author-
ization to self-insure whose application 
has been rejected or who believes that 
the security deposit requirements im-
posed by the Office are excessive may, 
in writing, request that the Office re-
view its determination. A request for 
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review should contain such informa-
tion as may be necessary to support 
the request that the amount of secu-
rity required be reduced. 

(d) Upon receipt of any such request, 
the Office shall review its previous de-
termination in light of any new or ad-
ditional information submitted and in-
form the applicant whether or not a re-
duction in the amount of security ini-
tially required is warranted.

§ 726.105 Fixing the amount of secu-
rity. 

The Office shall require the amount 
of security which it deems necessary 
and sufficient to secure the perform-
ance by the applicant of all obligations 
imposed upon him as an operator by 
the Act. In determining the amount of 
security required, the factors that the 
Office will consider include, but are not 
limited to, the operator’s net worth, 
the existence of a guarantee by a par-
ent corporation, and the operator’s ex-
isting liability for benefits. The Office 
shall also consider such other factors 
as it considers relevant to any par-
ticular case. The amount of security 
which shall be required may be in-
creased or decreased when experience 
or changed conditions so warrant.

§ 726.106 Type of security. 
(a) The Office shall determine the 

type or types of security which an ap-
plicant shall or may procure. (See 
§ 726.104(b).) 

(b) In the event the indemnity bond 
option is selected, the bond shall be in 
such form and contain such provisions 
as the Office may prescribe: Provided, 
That only corporations may act as 
sureties on such indemnity bonds. In 
each case in which the surety on any 
such bond is a surety company, such 
company must be one approved by the 
U.S. Treasury Department under the 
laws of the United States and the ap-
plicable rules and regulations gov-
erning bonding companies (see Depart-
ment of Treasury’s Circular—570). 

(c) An applicant for authorization to 
self-insure based on a deposit of nego-
tiable securities, in the amount fixed 
by the Office, shall deposit any nego-
tiable securities acceptable as security 
for the deposit of public moneys of the 
United States under regulations issued 

by the Secretary of the Treasury. (See 
31 CFR Part 225.) The approval, valu-
ation, acceptance, and custody of such 
securities is hereby committed to the 
several Federal Reserve Banks and the 
Treasurer of the United States.

§ 726.107 Deposits of negotiable securi-
ties with Federal Reserve banks or 
the Treasurer of the United States; 
authority to sell such securities; in-
terest thereon. 

Deposits of securities provided for by 
the regulations in this part shall be 
made with any Federal Reserve bank 
or any branch of a Federal Reserve 
bank designated by the Office, or the 
Treasurer of the United States, and 
shall be held subject to the order of the 
Office with power in the Office, in its 
discretion in the event of default by 
the said self-insurer, to collect the in-
terest as it may become due, to sell the 
securities or any of them as may be re-
quired to discharge the obligations of 
the self-insurer under the Act and to 
apply the proceeds to the payment of 
any benefits or medical expenses for 
which the self-insurer may be liable. 
The Office may, however, whenever it 
deems it unnecessary to resort to such 
securities for the payment of benefits, 
authorize the self-insurer to collect in-
terest on the securities deposited by 
him.

§ 726.108 Withdrawal of negotiable se-
curities. 

No withdrawal of negotiable securi-
ties deposited by a self-insurer, shall be 
made except upon authorization by the 
Office. A self-insurer discontinuing 
business, or discontinuing operations 
within the purview of the Act, or pro-
viding security for the payment of ben-
efits by commercial insurance under 
the provisions of the Act may apply to 
the Office for the withdrawal of securi-
ties deposited under the regulations in 
this part. With such application shall 
be filed a sworn statement setting 
forth: 

(a) A list of all outstanding cases in 
which benefits are being paid, with the 
names of the miners and other bene-
ficiaries, giving a statement of the 
amounts of benefits paid and the peri-
ods for which such benefits have been 
paid; and 
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(b) A similar list of all pending cases 
in which no benefits have as yet been 
paid. In such cases withdrawals may be 
authorized by the Office of such securi-
ties as in the opinion of the Office may 
not be necessary to provide adequate 
security for the payment of out-
standing and potential liabilities of 
such self-insurer under the Act.

§ 726.109 Increase or reduction in the 
amount of security. 

Whenever in the opinion of the Office 
the amount of security given by the 
self-insurer is insufficient to afford 
adequate security for the payment of 
benefits and medical expenses under 
the Act, the self-insurer shall, upon de-
mand by the Office, file such additional 
security as the Office may require. The 
Office may reduce the amount of secu-
rity at any time on its own initiative, 
or upon the application of a self-in-
surer, when it believes the facts war-
rant a reduction. A self-insurer seeking 
a reduction shall furnish such informa-
tion as the Office may request relative 
to his current affairs, the nature and 
hazard of the work of his employees, 
the amount of the payroll of his em-
ployees engaged in coal mine employ-
ment within the purview of the Act, his 
financial condition, and such other evi-
dence as may be deemed material, in-
cluding a record of benefit payments he 
has made.

§ 726.110 Filing of agreement and un-
dertaking. 

(a) In addition to the requirement 
that adequate security be procured as 
set forth in this subpart, the applicant 
for the authorization to self-insure 
shall, as a condition precedent to re-
ceiving such authorization, execute 
and file with the Office an agreement 
and undertaking in a form prescribed 
and provided by the Office in which the 
applicant shall agree: 

(1) To pay when due, as required by 
the Act, all benefits payable on ac-
count of total disability or death of 
any of its employee-miners; 

(2) To furnish medical, surgical, hos-
pital, and other attendance, treatment, 
and care as required by the Act; 

(3) To provide security in a form ap-
proved by the Office (see § 726.104) and 
in an amount established by the Office 

(see § 726.105), as elected in the applica-
tion; 

(4) To authorize the Office to sell any 
negotiable securities so deposited or 
any part thereof, and to pay from the 
proceeds thereof such benefits, med-
ical, and other expenses and any ac-
crued penalties imposed by law as the 
Office may find to be due and payable. 

(b) When an applicant has provided 
the requisite security, he shall send to 
the Office in Washington, D.C. a com-
pleted agreement and undertaking, to-
gether with satisfactory proof that his 
obligations and liabilities under the 
Act have been secured.

§ 726.111 Notice of authorization to 
self-insure. 

Upon receipt of a completed agree-
ment and undertaking and satisfactory 
proof that adequate security has been 
provided, an applicant for authoriza-
tion to self-insure shall be notified by 
the Office in writing that he is author-
ized to self-insure to meet the obliga-
tions imposed upon him by section 415 
and part C of title IV of the Act.

§ 726.112 Reports required of self-in-
surer; examination of accounts of 
self-insurer. 

(a) Each operator who has been au-
thorized to self-insure under this part 
shall submit to the Office reports con-
taining such information as the Office 
may from time to time require or pre-
scribe. 

(b) Whenever it deems it to be nec-
essary, the Office may inspect or exam-
ine the books of account, records, and 
other papers of a self-insurer for the 
purpose of verifying any financial 
statement submitted to the Office by 
the self-insurer or verifying any infor-
mation furnished to the Office in any 
report required by this section, or any 
other section of the regulations in this 
part, and such self-insurer shall permit 
the Office or its duly authorized rep-
resentative to make such an inspection 
or examination as the Office shall re-
quire. In lieu of this requirement the 
Office may in its discretion accept an 
adequate report of a certified public ac-
countant. 
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(c) Failure to submit or make avail-
able any report or information re-
quested by the Office from an author-
ized self-insurer pursuant to this sec-
tion may, in appropriate circumstances 
result in a revocation of the authoriza-
tion to self-insure.

§ 726.113 Disclosure of confidential in-
formation. 

Any financial information or records, 
or other information relating to the 
business of an authorized self-insurer 
or applicant for the authorization of 
self-insurance obtained by the Office 
shall be exempt from public disclosure 
to the extent provided in 5 U.S.C. 552(b) 
and the applicable regulations of the 
Department of Labor promulgated 
thereunder. (See 29 CFR part 70.)

§ 726.114 Period of authorization as 
self-insurer; reauthorization. 

(a) No initial authorization to self-in-
sure shall be granted for a period in ex-
cess of 18 months. A self-insurer who 
has made an adequate deposit of nego-
tiable securities in compliance with 
§§ 726.106(c) and 726.107 will be reauthor-
ized for the ensuing fiscal year without 
additional security if the Office finds 
that his experience as a self-insurer 
warrants such action. If the Office de-
termines that such self-insurer’s expe-
rience indicates a need for the deposit 
of additional security, no reauthoriza-
tion shall be issued for the ensuing fis-
cal year until the Office receives satis-
factory proof that the requisite 
amount of additional securities has 
been deposited. A self-insurer who cur-
rently has on file an indemnity bond 
will receive from the Office each year a 
bond form for execution in contempla-
tion of reauthorization, and the sub-
mission of such bond duly executed in 
the amount indicated by the Office will 
be deemed and treated as such self-in-
surer’s application for reauthorization 
for the ensuing fiscal year. 

(b) In each case for which there is an 
approved change in the amount of secu-
rity provided, a new agreement and un-
dertaking shall be executed. 

(c) Each operator authorized to self-
insure under this part shall apply for 
reauthorization for any period during 
which it engages in the operation of a 
coal mine and for additional periods 

after it ceases operating a coal mine. 
Upon application by the operator, ac-
companied by proof that the security it 
has posted is sufficient to secure all 
benefits potentially payable to miners 
formerly employed by the operator, the 
Office shall issue a certification that 
the operator is exempt from the re-
quirements of this part based on its 
prior operation of a coal mine. The pro-
visions of subpart D of this part shall 
be applicable to any operator that fails 
to apply for reauthorization in accord-
ance with the provisions of this sec-
tion.

§ 726.115 Revocation of authorization 
to self-insure. 

The Office may for good cause shown 
suspend or revoke the authorization of 
any self-insurer. Failure by a self-in-
surer to comply with any provision or 
requirement of law or of the regula-
tions in this part, or with any lawful 
order or communication of the Office, 
or the failure or insolvency of the sur-
ety on his indemnity bond, or impair-
ment of financial responsibility of such 
self-insurer, may be deemed good cause 
for such suspension or revocation.

Subpart C—Insurance Contracts
§ 726.201 Insurance contracts—gen-

erally. 
Each operator of a coal mine who has 

not obtained authorization as a self-in-
surer shall purchase a policy or enter 
into a contract with a commercial in-
surance carrier or State agency. Pursu-
ant to authority contained in sections 
422(a) and 423(b) and (c) of part C of 
title IV of the Act, this subpart de-
scribes a number of provisions which 
are required to be incorporated in a 
policy or contract of insurance ob-
tained by a coal mine operator for the 
purpose of meeting the responsibility 
imposed upon such operator by the Act 
in respect of the total disability or 
death of miners due to pneumoconiosis.

§ 726.202 Who may underwrite an op-
erator’s liability. 

Each coal mine operator who is not 
authorized to self-insure shall insure 
and keep insured the payment of bene-
fits as required by the Act with any 
stock company or mutual company or 
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association, or with any other person, 
or fund, including any State fund while 
such company, association, person, or 
fund is authorized under the law of any 
State to insure workmen’s compensa-
tion.

§ 726.203 Federal Coal Mine Health 
and Safety Act endorsement. 

(a) The following form of endorse-
ment shall be attached and applicable 
to the standard workmen’s compensa-
tion and employer’s liability policy 
prepared by the National Council on 
Compensation Insurance affording cov-
erage under the Federal Coal Mine 
Health and Safety Act of 1969, as 
amended:

It is agreed that: (1) With respect to oper-
ations in a State designated in item 3 of the 
declarations, the unqualified term ‘‘work-
men’s compensation law’’ includes part C of 
title IV of the Federal Coal Mine Health and 
Safety Act of 1969, 30 U.S.C. section 931–936, 
and any laws amendatory thereto, or supple-
mentary thereto, which may be or become 
effective while this policy is in force, and 
definition (a) of Insuring Agreement III is 
amended accordingly; (2) with respect to 
such insurance as is afforded by this endorse-
ment, (a) the States, if any, named below, 
shall be deemed to be designated in item 3 of 
the declaration; (b) Insuring Agreement IV(2) 
is amended to read ‘‘by disease caused or ag-
gravated by exposure of which the last day of 
the last exposure, in the employment of the 
insured, to conditions causing the disease oc-
curs during the policy period, or occurred 
prior to (effective date) and claim based on 
such disease is first filed against the insured 
during the policy period.’’

(b) The term ‘‘effective date’’ as used 
in paragraph (a) of this section shall be 
construed to mean the effective date of 
the first policy or contract of insur-
ance procured by an operator for pur-
poses of meeting the obligations im-
posed on such operator by section 423 
of part C of title IV of the Act. 

(c) The Act contains a number of pro-
visions and imposes a number of re-
quirements on operators which differ in 
varying degrees from traditional work-
men’s compensation concepts. To avoid 
unnecessary administrative delays and 
expense which might be occasioned by 
the drafting of an entirely new stand-
ard workmen’s compensation policy 
specially tailored to the Act, the Office 
has determined that the existing stand-
ard workmen’s compensation policy 

subject to the endorsement provisions 
contained in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion shall be acceptable for purposes of 
writing commercial insurance coverage 
under the Act. However, to avoid undue 
disputes over the meaning of certain 
policy provisions and in accordance 
with the authority contained in section 
423(b)(3) of the Act, the Office has de-
termined that the following require-
ments shall be applicable to all com-
mercial insurance policies obtained by 
an operator for the purpose of insuring 
any liability incurred pursuant to the 
Act: 

(1) Operator liability. (i) Section 415 
and part C of title IV of the Act pro-
vide coverage for total disability or 
death due to pneumoconiosis to all 
claimants who meet the eligibility re-
quirements imposed by the Act. Sec-
tion 422 of the Act and the regulations 
duly promulgated thereunder (part 725 
of this subchapter) set forth the condi-
tions under which a coal mine operator 
may be adjudicated liable for the pay-
ment of benefits to an eligible claim-
ant for any period subsequent to De-
cember 31, 1973. 

(ii) Section 422(c) of the Act pre-
scribes that except as provided in 422(i) 
(see paragraph (c)(2) of this section) an 
operator may be adjudicated liable for 
the payment of benefits in any case if 
the total disability or death due to 
pneumoconiosis upon which the claim 
is predicated arose at least in part out 
of employment in a mine in any period 
during which it was operated by such 
operator. The Act does not require that 
such employment which contributed to 
or caused the total disability or death 
due to pneumoconiosis occur subse-
quent to any particular date in time. 
The Secretary in establishing a for-
mula for determining the operator lia-
ble for the payment of benefits (see 
subpart D of part 725 of this sub-
chapter) in respect of any particular 
claim, must therefore, within the 
framework and intent of title IV of the 
Act find in appropriate cases that an 
operator is liable for the payment of 
benefits for some period after Decem-
ber 31, 1973, even though the employ-
ment upon which an operator’s liabil-
ity is based occurred prior to July 1, 
1973, or prior to the effective date of 
the Act or the effective date of any 
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amendments thereto, or prior to the ef-
fective date of any policy or contract 
of insurance obtained by such operator. 
The endorsement provisions contained 
in paragraph (a) of this section shall be 
construed to incorporate these require-
ments in any policy or contract of in-
surance obtained by an operator to 
meet the obligations imposed on such 
operator by section 423 of the Act. 

(2) Successor liability. Section 422(i) of 
part C of title IV of the Act requires 
that a coal mine operator who after 
December 30, 1969, acquired his mine or 
substantially all of the assets thereof 
from a person who was an operator of 
such mine on or after December 30, 
1969, shall be liable for and shall secure 
the payment of benefits which would 
have been payable by the prior oper-
ator with respect to miners previously 
employed in such mine if the acquisi-
tion had not occurred and the prior op-
erator had continued to operate such 
mine. In the case of an operator who is 
determined liable for the payment of 
benefits under section 422(i) of the Act 
and part 725 of this subchapter, such li-
ability shall accrue to such operator 
regardless of the fact that the miner on 
whose total disability or death the 
claim is predicated was never employed 
by such operator in any capacity. The 
endorsement provisions contained in 
paragraph (a) of this section shall be 
construed to incorporate this require-
ment in any policy or contract of in-
surance obtained by an operator to 
meet the obligations imposed on such 
operator by section 423 of the Act. 

(3) Medical eligibility. Pursuant to sec-
tion 422(h) of part C of title IV of the 
Act and the regulations described 
therein (see subpart D of part 410 of 
this title) benefits shall be paid to eli-
gible claimants on account of total dis-
ability or death due to pneumoconiosis 
and in cases where the miner on whose 
death a claim is predicated was totally 
disabled by pneumoconiosis at the time 
of his death regardless of the cause of 
such death. The endorsement provi-
sions contained in paragraph (a) of this 
section shall be construed to incor-
porate these requirements in any pol-
icy or contract of insurance obtained 
by an operator to meet the obligations 
imposed on such operator by section 
423 of the Act. 

(4) Payment of benefits, rates. Section 
422(c) of the Act by incorporating sec-
tion 412(a) of the Act requires the pay-
ment of benefits at a rate equal to 50 
per centum of the minimum monthly 
payment to which a Federal employee 
in grade GS–2, who is totally disabled 
is entitled at the time of payment 
under Chapter 81 of title 5, United 
States Code. These benefits are aug-
mented on account of eligible depend-
ents as appropriate (see section 412(a) 
of part B of title IV of the Act). Since 
the dollar amount of benefits payable 
to any beneficiary is required to be 
computed at the time of payment such 
amounts may be expected to increase 
from time to time as changes in the 
GS–2 grade are enacted into law. The 
endorsement provisions contained in 
paragraph (a) of this section shall be 
construed to incorporate in any policy 
or contract of insurance obtained by an 
operator to meet the obligations im-
posed on such operator by section 423 
of the Act, the requirement that the 
payment of benefits to eligible bene-
ficiaries shall be made in such dollar 
amounts as are prescribed by section 
412(a) of the Act computed at the time 
of payment. 

(5) Compromise and waiver of benefits. 
Section 422(a) of part C of title IV of 
the Act by incorporating sections 15(b) 
and 16 of the Longshoremen’s and Har-
bor Workers’ Compensation Act (33 
U.S.C. 915(b) and 916) prohibits the 
compromise and/or waiver of claims for 
benefits filed or benefits payable under 
section 415 and part C of title IV of the 
Act. The endorsement provisions con-
tained in paragraph (a) of this section 
shall be construed to incorporate these 
prohibitions in any policy or contract 
of insurance obtained by an operator to 
meet the obligations imposed on such 
operator by section 423 of the Act. 

(6) Additional requirements. In addi-
tion to the requirements described in 
paragraph (c)(1) through (5) of this sec-
tion, the endorsement provisions con-
tained in paragraph (a) of this section 
shall, to the fullest extent possible, be 
construed to bring any policy or con-
tract of insurance entered into by an 
operator for the purpose of insuring 
such operator’s liability under part C 
of title IV of the Act into conformity 
with the legal requirements placed 
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upon such operator by section 415 and 
part C of title IV of the Act and parts 
720 and 725 of this subchapter. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall re-
lieve any operator or carrier of the 
duty to comply with any State work-
men’s compensation law, except insofar 
as such State law is in conflict with 
the provisions of this section.

§ 726.204 Statutory policy provisions. 
Pursuant to section 423(b) of part C 

of title IV of the Act each policy or 
contract of insurance obtained to com-
ply with the requirements of section 
423(a) of the Act must contain or shall 
be construed to contain— 

(a) A provision to pay benefits re-
quired under section 422 of the Act, 
notwithstanding the provisions of the 
State workmen’s compensation law 
which may provide for lesser payments; 
and, 

(b) A provision that insolvency or 
bankruptcy of the operator or dis-
charge therein (or both) shall not re-
lieve the carrier from liability for such 
payments.

§ 726.205 Other forms of endorsement 
and policies. 

Forms of endorsement or policies 
other than that described in § 726.203 
may be entered into by operators to in-
sure their liability under the Act. How-
ever, any form of endorsement or pol-
icy which materially alters or at-
tempts to materially alter an opera-
tor’s liability for the payment of any 
benefits under the Act shall be deemed 
insufficient to discharge such opera-
tor’s duties and responsibilities as pre-
scribed in part C of title IV of the Act. 
In any event, the failure of an operator 
to obtain an adequate policy or con-
tract of insurance shall not affect such 
operator’s liability for the payment of 
any benefits for which he is determined 
liable.

§ 726.206 Terms of policies. 
A policy or contract of insurance 

shall be issued for the term of 1 year 
from the date that it becomes effec-
tive, but if such insurance be not need-
ed except for a particular contract or 
operation, the term of the policy may 
be limited to the period of such con-
tract or operation.

§ 726.207 Discharge by the carrier of 
obligations and duties of operator. 

Every obligation and duty in respect 
of payment of benefits, the providing of 
medical and other treatment and care, 
the payment or furnishing of any other 
benefit required by the Act and in re-
spect of the carrying out of the admin-
istrative procedure required or imposed 
by the Act or the regulations in this 
part or part 725 of this subchapter upon 
an operator shall be discharged and 
carried out by the carrier as appro-
priate. Notice to or knowledge of an 
operator of the occurrence of total dis-
ability or death due to pneumoconiosis 
shall be notice to or knowledge of such 
carrier. Jurisdiction of the operator by 
a district director, administrative law 
judge, the Office, or appropriate appel-
late authority under the Act shall be 
jurisdiction of such carrier. Any re-
quirement under any benefits order, 
finding, or decision shall be binding 
upon such carrier in the same manner 
and to the same extent as upon the op-
erator.

REPORTS BY CARRIER

§ 726.208 Report by carrier of issuance 
of policy or endorsement. 

Each carrier shall report to the Of-
fice each policy and endorsement 
issued, canceled, or renewed by it to an 
operator. The report shall be made in 
such manner and on such form as the 
Office may require.

§ 726.209 Report; by whom sent. 
The report of issuance, cancellation, 

or renewal of a policy and endorsement 
provided for in § 726.208 shall be sent by 
the home office of the carrier, except 
that any carrier may authorize its 
agency or agencies to make such re-
ports to the Office.

§ 726.210 Agreement to be bound by re-
port. 

Every carrier seeking to write insur-
ance under the provisions of the Act 
shall be deemed to have agreed that 
the acceptance by the Office of a report 
of the issuance or renewal of a policy of 
insurance, as provided for by § 726.208 
shall bind the carrier to full liability 
for the obligations under the Act of the 
operator named in said report. It shall 
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be no defense to this agreement that 
the carrier failed or delayed to issue, 
cancel, or renew the policy to the oper-
ator covered by this report.

§ 726.211 Name of one employer only 
shall be given in each report. 

A separate report of the issuance or 
renewal of a policy and endorsement, 
provided for by § 726.208, shall be made 
for each operator covered by a policy. 
If a policy is issued or renewed insuring 
more than one operator, a separate re-
port for each operator so covered shall 
be sent to the Office with the name of 
only one operator on each such report.

§ 726.212 Notice of cancellation. 
Cancellation of a contract or policy 

of insurance issued under authority of 
the Act shall not become effective oth-
erwise than as provided by 33 U.S.C. 
936(b); and notice of a proposed can-
cellation shall be given to the Office 
and to the operator in accordance with 
the provisions of 33 U.S.C. 912(c), 30 
days before such cancellation is in-
tended to be effective (see section 
422(a) of part C of title IV of the Act).

§ 726.213 Reports by carriers con-
cerning the payment of benefits. 

Pursuant to 33 U.S.C. 914(c) as incor-
porated by section 422(a) of part C of 
title IV of the Act and § 726.207 each 
carrier issuing a policy or contract of 
insurance under the Act shall upon 
making the first payment of benefits 
and upon the suspension of any pay-
ment in any case, immediately notify 
the Office in accordance with a form 
prescribed by the Office that payment 
of benefit has begun or has been sus-
pended as the case may be. In addition, 
each such carrier shall at the request 
of the Office submit to the Office such 
additional information concerning 
policies or contracts of insurance 
issued to guarantee the payment of 
benefits under the Act and any benefits 
paid thereunder, as the Office may 
from time to time require to carry out 
its responsibilities under the Act.

Subpart D—Civil Money Penalties
§ 726.300 Purpose and scope. 

Any operator which is required to se-
cure the payment of benefits under sec-

tion 423 of the Act and § 726.4 and which 
fails to secure such benefits, shall be 
subject to a civil penalty of not more 
than $1,000 for each day during which 
such failure occurs. If the operator is a 
corporation, the president, secretary, 
and treasurer of the operator shall also 
be severally liable for the penalty 
based on the operator’s failure to se-
cure the payment of benefits. This sub-
part defines those terms necessary for 
administration of the civil money pen-
alty provisions, describes the criteria 
for determining the amount of penalty 
to be assessed, and sets forth applicable 
procedures for the assessment and con-
test of penalties.

§ 726.301 Definitions. 

In addition to the definitions pro-
vided in part 725 of this subchapter and 
§ 726.8, the following definitions apply 
to this subpart: 

(a) Division Director means the Direc-
tor, Division of Coal Mine Workers’ 
Compensation, Office of Workers’ Com-
pensation Programs, Employment 
Standards Administration, or such 
other official authorized by the Divi-
sion Director to perform any of the 
functions of the Division Director 
under this subpart. 

(b) President, secretary, or treasurer 
means the officers of a corporation as 
designated pursuant to the laws and 
regulations of the state in which the 
corporation is incorporated or, if that 
state does not require the designation 
of such officers, the employees of a 
company who are performing the work 
usually performed by such officers in 
the state in which the corporation’s 
principal place of business is located. 

(c) Principal means any person who 
has an ownership interest in an oper-
ator that is not a corporation, and 
shall include, but is not limited to, 
partners, sole proprietors, and any 
other person who exercises control over 
the operation of a coal mine.

§ 726.302 Determination of penalty. 

(a) The following method shall be 
used for determining the amount of 
any penalty assessed under this sub-
part. 

(b) The penalty shall be determined 
by multiplying the daily base penalty 
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amount or amounts, determined in ac-
cordance with the formula set forth in 
this section, by the number of days in 
the period during which the operator is 
subject to the security requirements of 
section 423 of the Act and § 726.4, and 
fails to secure its obligations under the 
Act. The period during which an oper-
ator is subject to liability for a penalty 
for failure to secure its obligations 
shall be deemed to commence on the 
first day on which the operator met the 
definition of the term ‘‘operator’’ as 
set forth in § 725.101 of this subchapter. 
The period shall be deemed to continue 
even where the operator has ceased 
coal mining and any related activity, 
unless the operator secured its liability 
for all previous periods through a pol-
icy or policies of insurance obtained in 
accordance with subpart C of this part 
or has obtained a certification of ex-
emption in accordance with the provi-
sions of § 726.114. 

(c)(1) A daily base penalty amount 
shall be determined for all periods up 
to and including the 10th day after the 
operator’s receipt of the notification 
sent by the Director pursuant to 
§ 726.303, during which the operator 
failed to secure its obligations under 
section 423 of the Act and § 726.4. 

(2)(i) The daily base penalty amount 
shall be determined based on the num-
ber of persons employed in coal mine 
employment by the operator, or en-
gaged in coal mine employment on be-
half of the operator, on each day of the 
period defined by this section, and 
shall be computed as follows:

Employees Penalty
(per day) 

Less than 25 ...................................................... $100 
25–50 ................................................................. 200 
51–100 ............................................................... 300 
More than 100 ................................................... 400

(ii) For any period after the operator 
has ceased coal mining and any related 
activity, the daily penalty amount 
shall be computed based on the largest 
number of persons employed in coal 
mine employment by the operator, or 
engaged in coal mine employment on 
behalf of the operator, on any day 
while the operator was engaged in coal 
mining or any related activity. For 
purposes of this section, it shall be pre-
sumed, in the absence of evidence to 

the contrary, that any person em-
ployed by an operator is employed in 
coal mine employment. 

(3) In any case in which the operator 
had prior notice of the applicability of 
the Black Lung Benefits Act to its op-
erations, the daily base penalty 
amounts set forth in paragraph (c)(2)(i) 
of this section shall be doubled. Prior 
notice may be inferred where the oper-
ator, or an entity in which the operator 
or any of its principals had an owner-
ship interest, or an entity in which the 
operator’s president, secretary, or 
treasurer were employed: 

(i) Previously complied with section 
423 of the Act and § 726.4; 

(ii) Was notified of its obligation to 
comply with section 423 of the Act and 
§ 726.4; or 

(iii) Was notified of its potential li-
ability for a claim filed under the 
Black Lung Benefits Act pursuant to 
§ 725.407 of this subchapter. 

(4) Commencing with the 11th day 
after the operator’s receipt of the noti-
fication sent by the Director pursuant 
to § 726.303, the daily base penalty 
amounts set forth in paragraph (c)(2)(i) 
shall be increased by $100. 

(5) In any case in which the operator, 
or any of its principals, or an entity in 
which the operator’s president, sec-
retary, or treasurer were employed, has 
been the subject of a previous penalty 
assessment under this part, the daily 
base penalty amounts shall be in-
creased by $300, up to a maximum daily 
base penalty amount of $1,000. The 
maximum daily base penalty amount 
applicable to any violation of § 726.4 
that takes place after January 19, 2001 
shall be $1,100. 

(d) The penalty shall be subject to re-
duction for any period during which 
the operator had a reasonable belief 
that it was not required to comply 
with section 423 of the Act and § 726.4 or 
a reasonable belief that it had obtained 
insurance coverage to comply with sec-
tion 423 of the Act and § 726.4. A notice 
of contest filed in accordance with 
§ 726.307 shall not be sufficient to estab-
lish a reasonable belief that the oper-
ator was not required to comply with 
the Act and regulations.
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§ 726.303 Notification; investigation. 
(a) If the Director determines that an 

operator has violated the provisions of 
section 423 of the Act and § 726.4, he or 
she shall notify the operator of its vio-
lation and request that the operator 
immediately secure the payment of 
benefits. Such notice shall be sent by 
certified mail. 

(b) The Director shall also direct the 
operator to supply information rel-
evant to the assessment of a penalty. 
Such information, which shall be sup-
plied within 30 days of the Director’s 
request, may include: 

(1) The date on which the operator 
commenced its operation of a coal 
mine; 

(2) The number of persons employed 
by the operator since it began oper-
ating a coal mine and the dates of their 
employment; and 

(3) The identity and last known ad-
dress: 

(i) In the case of a corporation, of all 
persons who served as president, sec-
retary, and treasurer of the operator 
since it began operating a coal mine; or 

(ii) In the case of an operator which 
is not incorporated, of all persons who 
were principals of the operator since it 
began operating a coal mine; 

(c) In conducting any investigation of 
an operator under this subpart, the Di-
vision Director shall have all of the 
powers of a district director, as set 
forth at § 725.351(a) of this subchapter. 
For purposes of § 725.351(c), the Division 
Director shall be considered to sit in 
the District of Columbia.

§ 726.304 Notice of initial assessment. 
(a) After an operator receives notifi-

cation under § 726.303 and fails to secure 
its obligations for the period defined in 
§ 726.302(b), and following the comple-
tion of any investigation, the Director 
may issue a notice of initial penalty 
assessment in accordance with the cri-
teria set forth in § 726.302. 

(b)(1) A copy of such notice shall be 
sent by certified mail to the operator. 
If the operator is a corporation, a copy 
shall also be sent by certified mail to 
each of the persons who served as presi-
dent, secretary, or treasurer of the op-
erator during any period in which the 
operator was in violation of section 423 
of the Act and § 726.4. 

(2) Where service by certified mail is 
not accepted by any person, the notice 
shall be deemed received by that per-
son on the date of attempted delivery. 
Where service is not accepted, the Di-
rector may exercise discretion to serve 
the notice by regular mail.

§ 726.305 Contents of notice. 
The notice required by § 726.304 shall: 
(a) Identify the operator against 

whom the penalty is assessed, as well 
as the name of any other person sever-
ally liable for such penalty; 

(b) Set forth the determination of the 
Director as to the amount of the pen-
alty and the reason or reasons therefor; 

(c) Set forth the right of each person 
identified in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion to contest the notice and request 
a hearing before the Office of Adminis-
trative Law Judges; 

(d) Set forth the method for each per-
son identified in paragraph (a) to con-
test the notice and request a hearing 
before the Office of Administrative 
Law Judges; and 

(e) Inform any affected person that in 
the absence of a timely contest and re-
quest for hearing received within 30 
days of the date of receipt of the no-
tice, the Director’s assessment will be-
come final and unappealable as to that 
person.

§ 726.306 Finality of administrative as-
sessment. 

Except as provided in § 726.307(c), if 
any person identified as potentially 
liable for the assessment does not, 
within 30 days after receipt of notice, 
contest the assessment, the Director’s 
assessment shall be deemed final as to 
that person, and collection and recov-
ery of the penalty may be instituted 
pursuant to § 726.320.

§ 726.307 Form of notice of contest and 
request for hearing. 

(a) Any person desiring to contest 
the Director’s notice of initial assess-
ment shall request an administrative 
hearing pursuant to this part. The no-
tice of contest shall be made in writing 
to the Director, Division of Coal Mine 
Workers’ Compensation, Office of 
Workers’ Compensation Programs, Em-
ployment Standards Administration, 
United States Department of Labor. 
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The notice of contest must be received 
no later than 30 days after the date of 
receipt of the notice issued under 
§ 726.304. No additional time shall be 
added where service of the notice is 
made by mail. 

(b) The notice of contest shall: 
(1) Be dated; 
(2) Be typewritten or legibly written; 
(3) State the specific issues to be con-

tested. In particular, the person must 
indicate his agreement or disagree-
ment with: 

(i) The Director’s determination that 
the person against whom the penalty is 
assessed is an operator subject to the 
requirements of section 423 of the Act 
and § 726.4, or is the president, sec-
retary, or treasurer of an operator, if 
the operator is a corporation. 

(ii) The Director’s determination 
that the operator violated section 423 
of the Act and § 726.4 for the time pe-
riod in question; and 

(iii) The Director’s determination of 
the amount of penalty owed; 

(4) Be signed by the person making 
the request or an authorized represent-
ative of such person; and 

(5) Include the address at which such 
person or authorized representative de-
sires to receive further communica-
tions relating thereto. 

(c) A notice of contest filed by the 
operator shall be deemed a notice of 
contest on behalf of all other persons 
to the Director’s determinations that 
the operator is subject to section 423 of 
the Act and § 726.4 and that the oper-
ator violated those provisions for the 
time period in question, and to the Di-
rector’s determination of the amount 
of penalty owed. An operator may not 
contest the Director’s determination 
that a person against whom the pen-
alty is assessed is the president, sec-
retary, or treasurer of the operator. 

(d) Failure to specifically identify an 
issue as contested pursuant to para-
graph (b)(3) of this section shall be 
deemed a waiver of the right to contest 
that issue.

§ 726.308 Service and computation of 
time. 

(a) Service of documents under this 
part shall be made by delivery to the 
person, an officer of a corporation, or 
attorney of record, or by mailing the 

document to the last known address of 
the person, officer, or attorney. If serv-
ice is made by mail, it shall be consid-
ered complete upon mailing. Unless 
otherwise provided in this subpart, 
service need not be made by certified 
mail. If service is made by delivery, it 
shall be considered complete upon ac-
tual receipt by the person, officer, or 
attorney; upon leaving it at the per-
son’s, officer’s or attorney’s office with 
a clerk or person in charge; upon leav-
ing it at a conspicuous place in the of-
fice if no one is in charge; or by leaving 
it at the person’s or attorney’s resi-
dence. 

(b) If a complaint has been filed pur-
suant to § 726.309, two copies of all doc-
uments filed in any administrative pro-
ceeding under this subpart shall be 
served on the attorneys for the Depart-
ment of Labor. One copy shall be 
served on the Associate Solicitor, 
Black Lung Benefits Division, Room N–
2117, Office of the Solicitor, U.S. De-
partment of Labor, 200 Constitution 
Ave., NW., Washington, DC 20210, and 
one copy on the attorney representing 
the Department in the proceeding. 

(c) The time allowed a party to file 
any response under this subpart shall 
be computed beginning with the day 
following the action requiring a re-
sponse, and shall include the last day 
of the period, unless it is a Saturday, 
Sunday, or federally-observed holiday, 
see § 725.311 of Part 725 of this sub-
chapter, in which case the time period 
shall include the next business day.

§ 726.309 Referral to the Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges. 

(a) Upon receipt of a timely notice of 
contest filed in accordance with 
§ 726.307, the Director, by the Associate 
Solicitor for Black Lung Benefits or 
the Regional Solicitor for the Region 
in which the violation occurred, may 
file a complaint with the Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges. The Director 
may, in the complaint, reduce the total 
penalty amount requested. A copy of 
the notice of initial assessment issued 
by the Director and all notices of con-
test filed in accordance with § 726.307 
shall be attached. A notice of contest 
shall be given the effect of an answer 
to the complaint for purposes of the ad-
ministrative proceeding, subject to any 
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amendment that may be permitted 
under this subpart and 29 CFR part 18. 

(b) A copy of the complaint and at-
tachments thereto shall be served by 
counsel for the Director on the person 
who filed the notice of contest. 

(c) The Director, by counsel, may 
withdraw a complaint filed under this 
section at any time prior to the date 
upon which the decision of the Depart-
ment becomes final by filing a motion 
with the Office of Administrative Law 
Judges or the Secretary, as appro-
priate. If the Director makes such a 
motion prior to the date on which an 
administrative law judge renders a de-
cision in accordance § 726.313, the dis-
missal shall be without prejudice to 
further assessment against the oper-
ator for the period in question.

§ 726.310 Appointment of Administra-
tive Law Judge and notification of 
hearing date. 

Upon receipt from the Director of a 
complaint filed pursuant to § 726.309, 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge 
shall appoint an Administrative Law 
Judge to hear the case. The Adminis-
trative Law Judge shall notify all in-
terested parties of the time and place 
of the hearing.

§ 726.311 Evidence. 

(a) Except as specifically provided in 
this subpart, and to the extent they do 
not conflict with the provisions of this 
subpart, the Rules of Practice and Pro-
cedure for Administrative Hearings Be-
fore the Office of Administrative Law 
Judges established by the Secretary at 
29 CFR part 18 shall apply to adminis-
trative proceedings under this subpart. 

(b) Notwithstanding 29 CFR 
18.1101(b)(2), subpart B of the Rules of 
Practice and Procedure for Administra-
tive Hearings Before the Office of Ad-
ministrative Law Judges shall apply to 
administrative proceedings under this 
part, except that documents contained 
in Department of Labor files and of-
fered on behalf of the Director shall be 
admissible in proceedings under this 
subpart without regard to their compli-
ance with the Rules of Practice and 
Procedure.

§ 726.312 Burdens of proof. 

(a) The Director shall bear the bur-
den of proving the existence of a viola-
tion, and the time period for which the 
violation occurred. To prove a viola-
tion, the Director must establish: 

(1) That the person against whom the 
penalty is assessed is an operator, or is 
the president, secretary, or treasurer of 
an operator, if such operator is a cor-
poration. 

(2) That the operator violated section 
423 of the Act and § 726.4. The filing of 
a complaint shall be considered prima 
facie evidence that the Director has 
searched the records maintained by 
OWCP and has determined that the op-
erator was not authorized to self-insure 
its liability under the Act for the time 
period in question, and that no insur-
ance carrier reported coverage of the 
operator for the time period in ques-
tion. 

(b) The Director need not produce 
further evidence in support of his bur-
den of proof with respect to the issues 
set forth in paragraph (a) if no party 
contested them pursuant to 
§ 726.307(b)(3). 

(c) The Director shall bear the bur-
den of proving the size of the operator 
as required by § 726.302, except that if 
the Director has requested the operator 
to supply information with respect to 
its size under § 726.303 and the operator 
has not fully complied with that re-
quest, it shall be presumed that the op-
erator has more than 100 employees en-
gaged in coal mine employment. The 
person or persons liable for the assess-
ment shall thereafter bear the burden 
of proving the actual number of em-
ployees engaged in coal mine employ-
ment. 

(d) The Director shall bear the bur-
den of proving the operator’s receipt of 
the notification required by § 726.303, 
the operator’s prior notice of the appli-
cability of the Black Lung Benefits Act 
to its operations, and the existence of 
any previous assessment against the 
operator, the operator’s principals, or 
the operator’s officers. 

(e) The person or persons liable for an 
assessment shall bear the burden of 
proving the applicability of the miti-
gating factors listed in § 726.302(d).
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§ 726.313 Decision and order of Admin-
istrative Law Judge. 

(a) The Administrative Law Judge 
shall render a decision on the issues re-
ferred by the Director. 

(b) The decision of the Administra-
tive Law Judge shall be limited to de-
termining, where such issues are prop-
erly before him or her: 

(1) Whether the operator has violated 
section 423 of the Act and § 726.4; 

(2) Whether other persons identified 
by the Director as potentially severally 
liable for the penalty were the presi-
dent, treasurer, or secretary of the cor-
poration during the time period in 
question; and 

(3) The appropriateness of the pen-
alty assessed by the Director in light of 
the factors set forth in § 726.302. The 
Administrative Law Judge shall not 
render determinations on the legality 
of a regulatory provision or the con-
stitutionality of a statutory provision. 

(c) The decision of the Administra-
tive Law Judge shall include a state-
ment of findings and conclusions, with 
reasons and bases therefor, upon each 
material issue presented on the record. 
The decision shall also include an ap-
propriate order which may affirm, re-
verse, or modify, in whole or in part, 
the determination of the Director. 

(d) The Administrative Law Judge 
shall serve copies of the decision on 
each of the parties by certified mail. 

(e) The decision of the Administra-
tive Law Judge shall be deemed to have 
been issued on the date that it is ren-
dered, and shall constitute the final 
order of the Secretary unless there is a 
request for reconsideration by the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge pursuant to 
paragraph (f) of this section or a peti-
tion for review filed pursuant to 
§ 726.314. 

(f) Any party may request that the 
Administrative Law Judge reconsider 
his or her decision by filing a motion 
within 30 days of the date upon which 
the decision of the Administrative Law 
Judge is issued. A timely motion for 
reconsideration shall suspend the run-
ning of the time for any party to file a 
petition for review pursuant to 
§ 726.314. 

(g) Following issuance of the decision 
and order, the Chief Administrative 
Law Judge shall promptly forward the 

complete hearing record to the Direc-
tor.

§ 726.314 Review by the Secretary. 

(a) The Director or any party ag-
grieved by a decision of the Adminis-
trative Law Judge may petition the 
Secretary for review of the decision by 
filing a petition within 30 days of the 
date on which the decision was issued. 
Any other party may file a cross-peti-
tion for review within 15 days of its re-
ceipt of a petition for review or within 
30 days of the date on which the deci-
sion was issued, whichever is later. 
Copies of any petition or cross-petition 
shall be served on all parties and on 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge. 

(b) A petition filed by one party shall 
not affect the finality of the decision 
with respect to other parties. 

(c) If any party files a timely motion 
for reconsideration, any petition for re-
view, whether filed prior to or subse-
quent to the filing of the timely mo-
tion for reconsideration, shall be dis-
missed without prejudice as premature. 
The 30-day time limit for filing a peti-
tion for review by any party shall com-
mence upon issuance of a decision on 
reconsideration.

§ 726.315 Contents. 

Any petition or cross-petition for re-
view shall: 

(a) Be dated; 
(b) Be typewritten or legibly written; 
(c) State the specific reason or rea-

sons why the party petitioning for re-
view believes the Administrative Law 
Judge’s decision is in error; 

(d) Be signed by the party filing the 
petition or an authorized representa-
tive of such party; and 

(e) Attach copies of the Administra-
tive Law Judge’s decision and any 
other documents admitted into the 
record by the Administrative Law 
Judge which would assist the Secretary 
in determining whether review is war-
ranted.

§ 726.316 Filing and service. 

(a) Filing. All documents submitted 
to the Secretary shall be filed with the 
Secretary of Labor, U.S. Department of 
Labor, 200 Constitution Ave., N.W., 
Washington, DC 20210. 
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(b) Number of copies. An original and 
four copies of all documents shall be 
filed. 

(c) Computation of time for delivery by 
mail. Documents are not deemed filed 
with the Secretary until actually re-
ceived by the Secretary either on or be-
fore the due date. No additional time 
shall be added where service of a docu-
ment requiring action within a pre-
scribed time was made by mail. 

(d) Manner and proof of service. A copy 
of each document filed with the Sec-
retary shall be served upon all other 
parties involved in the proceeding. 
Service under this section shall be by 
personal delivery or by mail. Service 
by mail is deemed effected at the time 
of mailing to the last known address.

§ 726.317 Discretionary review. 
(a) Following receipt of a timely pe-

tition for review, the Secretary shall 
determine whether the decision war-
rants review, and shall send a notice of 
such determination to the parties and 
the Chief Administrative Law Judge. If 
the Secretary declines to review the 
decision, the Administrative Law 
Judge’s decision shall be considered the 
final decision of the agency. The Sec-
retary’s determination to review a de-
cision by an Administrative Law Judge 
under this subpart is solely within the 
discretion of the Secretary. 

(b) The Secretary’s notice shall 
specify: 

(1) The issue or issues to be reviewed; 
and 

(2) The schedule for submitting argu-
ments, in the form of briefs or such 
other pleadings as the Secretary deems 
appropriate. 

(c) Upon receipt of the Secretary’s 
notice, the Director shall forward the 
record to the Secretary.

§ 726.318 Final decision of the Sec-
retary. 

The Secretary’s review shall be based 
upon the hearing record. The findings 
of fact in the decision under review 

shall be conclusive if supported by sub-
stantial evidence in the record as a 
whole. The Secretary’s review of con-
clusions of law shall be de novo. Upon 
review of the decision, the Secretary 
may affirm, reverse, modify, or vacate 
the decision, and may remand the case 
to the Office of Administrative Law 
Judges for further proceedings. The 
Secretary’s final decision shall be 
served upon all parties and the Chief 
Administrative Law Judge, in person 
or by mail to the last known address.

§ 726.319 Retention of official record. 

The official record of every com-
pleted administrative hearing held pur-
suant to this part shall be maintained 
and filed under the custody and control 
of the Director.

§ 726.320 Collection and recovery of 
penalty. 

(a) When the determination of the 
amount of any civil money penalty 
provided for in this part becomes final, 
in accordance with the administrative 
assessment thereof, or pursuant to the 
decision and order of an Administra-
tive Law Judge, or following the deci-
sion of the Secretary, the amount of 
the penalty as thus determined is im-
mediately due and payable to the U.S. 
Department of Labor on behalf of the 
Black Lung Disability Trust Fund. The 
person against whom such penalty has 
been assessed or imposed shall prompt-
ly remit the amount thereof, as finally 
determined, to the Secretary by cer-
tified check or by money order, made 
payable to the order of U.S. Depart-
ment of Labor, Black Lung Program. 
Such remittance shall be delivered or 
mailed to the Director. 

(b) If such remittance is not received 
within 30 days after it becomes due and 
payable, it may be recovered in a civil 
action brought by the Secretary in any 
court of competent jurisdiction, in 
which litigation the Secretary shall be 
represented by the Solicitor of Labor.
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